THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Gordon G. Cooper, Master-In-Equity

Trial Court Case No. 2014-CP-42-04205

Appellate Case No. 2016-000916

RECEIVED

NOV 03 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Ex Parte Anthony L. Mathis,Appellant,

Invacare Corporation, Inc. and all of its subsidiaries, assignors, and
assignees, Respondent,

v.

MD Medical, LLC and Gary Day,Defendants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Carlos C. Johnson
Lyles, Darr & Clark, LLC
Post Office Box 5726
Spartanburg, South Carolina 29304-5726
(864) 585-4806
Attorneys for Appellant

Other Counsel of Record:
Bonum S. Wilson, III
Brandon T. Reeser
Wilson & Heyward, LLC

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Circuit Court erroneously rule that Dr. Anthony L. Mathis is personally liable to Respondent for the January 21, 2015 judgment Respondent obtained against MD Medical, LLC and Gary Day and that Dr. John Petrich should redirect contractual payments he owes Dr. Anthony L. Mathis to Respondent where the August 24, 2015 Order of Reference for Rule to Show Cause fails to properly notify Dr. Anthony L. Mathis that he may be subject to personal liability in this matter and wholly fails to notify Dr. John Petrich whatsoever?

- II. Did the Circuit Court erroneously apply The Statute of Elizabeth and/or South Carolina Code of Laws Section 15-39-410 (1976) as the legal basis for Respondent's request for relief where the Respondent failed to show by clear and convincing evidence that the contract between Dr. Anthony L. Mathis and Dr. John Petrich is fraudulent in nature?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter arises from an August 24, 2015 Order of Reference for Rule to Show Cause that required Dr. Anthony L. Mathis, DPM (hereinafter "Appellant") to appear for deposition and otherwise fully, completely, and truthfully respond to discovery in accordance with the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. The Order of Reference for Rule to Show Cause arose from a default judgment Respondent obtained on January 21, 2015 against MD Medical, LLC, a South Carolina limited liability company, and Gary Day, an individual, upon allegations that MD Medical, LLC and Gary Day had breached contractual obligations to Respondent. Appellant was not a party to the action in which Respondent obtained its judgment, was not served with any pleadings or orders in that matter and was not a party to the contract underlying Respondent's action against MD Medical, LLC and Gary Day.

The examination required by the August 24, 2015 Order of Reference for Rule to Show Cause was held on November 19, 2015. Appellant appeared and answered Respondent's questions regarding MD Medical, LLC and Gary Day and also produced the documents he had in his possession concerning MD Medical, LLC and Gary Day.

Appellant objected to all questions and request for production concerning his personal finances and his medical practice on the basis that those matters are not related to MD Medical, LLC nor Gary Day and, therefore, are irrelevant (R. p. 99, line 23). At the conclusion of the examination, Respondent argued for an order holding Appellant personally liable to Respondent for the January 21, 2015 judgment Respondent obtained against MD Medical, LLC and Gary Day. Appellant objected to Respondent's request on the basis that the August 24, 2015 Order of Reference for Rule to Show Cause does not properly notify Appellant that Respondent sought to hold him personally liable for the January 21, 2015 judgment and denies Appellant the opportunity to properly defend against the Respondent's request that he be held personally liable (R. p. 143, line 20).

By Order dated December 14, 2015, the Circuit Court granted Respondent's request and held Appellant personally liable for the January 21, 2015 judgment and further ordered Dr. John Petrich to redirect contractual payments he owes Appellant to Respondent. Appellant received the Circuit Court's December 14, 2015 Order on December 22, 2015. On January 4, 2016 Appellant filed a Motion requesting that the Circuit Court reconsider and amend its December 14, 2015 Order. That Motion was denied by Order of the Circuit Court dated March 30, 2016 and received by Appellant on March 30, 2016. Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal from those Orders on or about April 28, 2016.

ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court's December 14, 2015 and March 30, 2016 Orders unjustly bind Appellant to a judicial judgment for which he was never contractually or legally responsible for in his individual capacity. The record of this case clearly establishes that Appellant was not a party to the civil action in which Respondent obtained the subject

default judgment. The record is also clear and, in fact, uncontroverted that Appellant did not have any direct involvement with the contractual agreements Respondent had with MD Medical, LLC and Gary Day. Appellant is only involved in this matter before this Honorable Court because he was a member of MD Medical, LLC and because, when he learned the extent of the managing member's, Gary Day, mismanagement of the company, Appellant insisted the company be closed and dissolved so he could avoid future financial harm. Appellant did not have any actual notice of MD Medical, LLC's and Gary Day's debts to Respondent until after arrangements were made to close and dissolve MD Medical, LLC. (R. pp. 107 – 108 and 125). There is no indication and certainly no evidence that Appellant acted with any trace of fraud in connection with the dissolution of MD Medical, LLC.

The uncontroverted document and testimony evidence in the record of this case confirms that Gary Day's mismanagement of MD Medical, LLC imposed a substantial financial burden on Appellant by way of loans to the company and tax levies and also involved Mr. Day's and his wife's¹ filtering of nearly two hundred thousand dollars (\$200,000) from MD Medical, LLC above and beyond the ninety thousand dollar (\$90,000) salaries they paid themselves. (R. pp. 127, line 17 – 141, line 15). Upon the dissolution of MD Medical, LLC, Appellant reached an agreement with Gary Day whereby Appellant would receive all proceeds, if any, from the distribution of MD Medical, LLC's assets to compensate Appellant for his great financial loss and to discourage Appellant from pursuing legal action against MD Medical, LLC and Mr. and Mrs. Day. (R. pp. 113 – 114,

¹ Gary Day's wife, Deborah Hamby Day, was also a member of MD Medical, LLC. Respondent's failure to hold Ms. Day responsible for its claim against MD Medical, LLC further highlights the unjustified nature of Respondent's efforts to hold Appellant personally liable.

line 9). Mr. Day arranged an agreement with Dr. John Petrich whereby Dr. Petrich would purchase the assets of MD Medical, LLC and direct all payments for those assets to Appellant as a creditor of MD Medical, LLC. (R. p. 126). Mr. Day also secured a job working for Dr. Petrich as part of that transaction. Appellant did not arrange the transaction with Dr. Petrich. As a creditor of MD Medical, LLC, Appellant's agreement with the terms of the agreement with Dr. John Petrich were completely legal and not in any way fraudulent. Accordingly, Appellant asserts that the Circuit Court's December 14, 2015 and March 30, 2016 Orders create an improper interference with his lawful contractual agreement with Dr. Petrich.

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRONEOUSLY RULED THAT DR. ANTHONY L. MATHIS IS PERSONALLY LIABLE TO RESPONDENT FOR THE JANUARY 21, 2015 JUDGMENT RESPONDENT OBTAINED AGAINST MD MEDICAL, LLC AND GARY DAY AND THAT DR. JOHN PETRICH SHOULD REDIRECT CONTRACTUAL PAYMENTS HE OWES DR. ANTHONY L. MATHIS TO RESPONDENT WHERE THE AUGUST 24, 2015 ORDER OF REFERENCE FOR RULE TO SHOW CAUSE FAILS TO PROPERLY NOTIFY DR. ANTHONY L. MATHIS THAT HE MAY BE SUBJECT TO PERSONAL LIABILITY IN THIS MATTER AND WHOLLY FAILS TO NOTIFY DR. JOHN PETRICH WHATSOEVER.

Under long-standing South Carolina jurisprudence, “[i]t is an error of law for a court to decide a case on a ground not before it.” Griffin v. Capital Cash, 310 S.C. 288, 294, 423 S.E.2d 143, 147 (Ct.App.1992) (citation omitted). “Due process requires that a litigant be placed on notice of the issues which the court is to consider.” Bass v. Bass, 272 S.C. 177, 180, 249 S.E.2d 905, 906 (1978). “One of the basic purposes of a notice of motion is to apprise the opposing party of the relief sought and the grounds therefore.” Turbeville v. Floyd, 288 S.C. 171, 174, 341 S.E.2d 651, 652 (Ct.App.1986) (quoting Skinner v. Skinner, 257 S.C. 544, 549, 186 S.E.2d 523, 526 (1972)). Thus, a court ordinarily may not grant relief beyond the scope of the notice. *Id.* A limited exception to

this rule exists when a ground not included in the notice of the motion is nevertheless fully argued before the court without objection. See Salvo v. Hewitt, Coleman & Assocs., 274 S.C. 34, 39, 260 S.E.2d 708, 711 (1979).

The August 24, 2015 Order of Reference for Rule to Show Cause only notifies Appellant that he “shall appear for the depositions and otherwise fully, completely, and truthfully respond to the discovery in accordance with the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.” (R. p. 9 - 12). Appellant was not a party and Respondent never served Appellant with the Complaint nor provided any notification whatsoever to Appellant of the action and default judgment underlying the August 24, 2015 Order of Reference for Rule to Show Cause. The August 24, 2015 Order of Reference for Rule to Show Cause does not provide any notice whatsoever that Respondent sought to hold Appellant personally liable for its judgment against MD Medical, LLC and Gary Day nor that Respondent sought to require Appellant to apply any funds to the satisfaction of Respondent’s January 21, 2015 judgment. Moreover, the August 24, 2015 Order of Reference for Rule to Show Cause completely fails to make any allegation of fraud or fraudulent conveyance. Therefore, Respondent’s request that Appellant be held personally liable was not properly before the Circuit Court and the Court’s December 14, 2015 and March 30, 2016 Orders should be reversed and Appellant should be deemed to have fully complied with the August 24, 2015 Order of Reference and Rule to Show Cause by submitting himself to examination on November 19, 2015.

Importantly, during the course of the November 19, 2015 hearing, Appellant strongly and repeatedly objected to any testimony and references to his personal assets and business affairs beyond his basic identity as a practicing physician and vehemently

objected to Respondent's suggestion that Appellant should be held personally responsible in any way in this matter. Accordingly, this matter does not fall within the limited exception to the notice rule regarding participation without objection and, therefore, the Circuit Court's December 14, 2015 and March 30, 2016 Orders should be reversed and Appellant should be deemed to have fully complied with the August 24, 2015 Order of Reference and Rule to Show Cause by submitting himself to examination on November 19, 2015.

The record of this case does not provide any jurisdictional basis for the Circuit Court's order that Dr. John Petrich redirect contractual payments he owes Appellant to Respondent. There is no evidence whatsoever in the record of this case that Respondent served Dr. John Petrich with any form of notification regarding any stage of the Circuit Court proceedings. Dr. John Petrich was not a party to the action in which Respondent obtained its judgment against MD Medical, LLC and the August 24, 2015 Order of Reference for Rule to Show Cause does not even reference Dr. Petrich. Pursuant to South Carolina law, the Circuit Court did not have jurisdiction and authority to bind Dr. John Petrich in its December 14, 2015 Order and, therefore, the Circuit Court's December 14, 2015 and March 30, 2016 Orders should be reversed.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRONEOUSLY APPLIED THE STATUTE OF ELIZABETH AND/OR SOUTH CAROLINA CODE OF LAWS SECTION 15-39-410 (1976) AS THE LEGAL BASIS FOR RESPONDENT'S REQUEST FOR RELIEF WHERE THE RESPONDENT FAILED TO SHOW BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE THAT THE CONTRACT BETWEEN DR. ANTHONY L. MATHIS AND DR. JOHN PETRICH IS FRAUDULENT IN NATURE.

The Circuit Court's December 14, 2015 Order cites South Carolina Code of Laws Section 27-23-10 (1997) and South Carolina Code of Laws Section 15-39-410 (1976) as the basis for its holding that Appellant should be personally liable for the January 21, 2015 judgment Respondent holds against MD Medical, LLC and Gary Day. However, Sections 27-23-10 and 15-39-410 apply solely to property of a judgment debtor. In this matter, Appellant was not a judgment debtor and his personal assets were not subject to the Circuit Court's jurisdiction. The Circuit Court's December 14, 2015 and March 30, 2016 Orders erroneously hold that MD Medical, LLC's assets were improperly distributed and that Appellant's contractual agreement with Dr. John Petrich constitutes a fraudulent conveyance. As discussed above, the dissolution of MD Medical, LLC and contractual agreement with Dr. John Petrich were arranged in a manner to dissuade Appellant from pursuing legal action against MD Medical, LLC and Mr. and Mrs. Day. Although the record of this case reflects that MD Medical, LLC and Gary Day were indebted to Respondent at the time MD Medical, LLC was dissolved and Appellant entered into his contractual agreement with Dr. John Petrich, the record of this case and the Respondent have completely failed to establish in any way that the contract between Appellant and Dr. John Petrich is fraudulent in nature or otherwise subject to the provisions of the Statute of Elizabeth as codified and interpreted under South Carolina law. Furthermore, Appellant testified at length during the November 19, 2015 examination that the remaining financial

assets of MD Medical, LLC were exhausted through the payment of as many of the company's debts as those assets were sufficient to pay.

In this matter, Respondent asserts the position that Appellant should be held personally responsible for Respondent's judgment against MD Medical, LLC and Gary Day simply because he had some vague knowledge of the debt at the time MD Medical, LLC was dissolved. Respondent does not assert that Appellant intended to defraud MD Medical, LLC's creditors, and the Circuit Court's finding that Appellant removed MD Medical, LLC's assets without valuable consideration completely ignores the Appellant's position as creditor of MD Medical, LLC and further highlights the injustice of Respondent's failure to provide proper notice of its claims as discussed above. Respondent suggested for the first time with no prior notice that the money paid pursuant to Appellant's and Dr. John Petrich's contract actually belongs to MD Medical, LLC. South Carolina law does not allow Plaintiff to recover on such mere allegations.

South Carolina law provides that a clear and convincing evidentiary standard governs fraudulent conveyance claims brought under the Statute of Elizabeth. Oskin v. Johnson, 400 S.C. 390, 396, 735 S.E.2d 459, 463 (S.C. 2012). In this matter, the testimony of Gary Day and Appellant clearly establish that Appellant was a creditor to MD Medical, LLC by virtue of the numerous loans he made to the company and the company's admission, through Gary Day's and Appellant's uncontroverted testimony, that Appellant was entitled to repayment of the money lent. Respondent has not presented any provision of law that provides Respondent's debt has priority over Appellant's debt. To properly prevail, Respondent must provide proper notice of its claim and prove its claim by clear and convincing evidence. Respondent has not provided proper notice and has provided no

proof whatsoever that the money paid pursuant to Appellant's and Dr. John Petrich's contract actually belongs to MD Medical, LLC.

Neither MD Medical, LLC nor Gary Day are a party to the contract between Appellant and Dr. John Petrich which Respondent and the Circuit Court's December 14, 2015 and March 30, 2016 Orders seek to attack and neither MD Medical, LLC nor Gary Day has a right to demand or receive the money paid under that contract. That money does not belong to MD Medical, LLC and the circumstances underlying this matter do not establish an action of chose. Therefore, the Circuit Court did not have jurisdiction or authority over that money pursuant to Sections 27-23-10 (1997) and 15-39-410 (1976) and Appellant should not be held personally liable for Respondent's judgment against MD Medical, LLC and Gary Day nor should Dr. John Petrich be required to redirect contractual payments he owes Appellant to Respondent. The Circuit Court's December 14, 2015 and March 30, 2016 Orders should be reversed and Appellant should be deemed to have fully complied with the August 24, 2015 Order of Reference and Rule to Show Cause by submitting himself to examination on November 19, 2015.