THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

NOV 02 2016

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Gordon G. Cooper, Master-In-Equity

Case No. 2016-000916

Ex Parte Anthony L. Mathis, Appellant,

Invacare Corporation, Inc., Respondents,
and all of its subsidiaries,
assignors, and assignees,

v.

MD Medical, LLC, and Gary Defendants.
Day,

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Brandon T. Reeser
P.O. Box 13177
Charleston, SC 29422
(843) 762-4567
Attorney for Respondents

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY'S FACTUAL FINDINGS AND LEGAL DETERMINATIONS AS TO THE APPLICABILITY OF THE STATUTE OF ELIZABETH AND ITS ORDER COMPELLING PAYMENT OF FUNDS PAID IN EXCHANGE FOR MD MEDICAL'S ASSETS IN ITS DECEMBER 15, 2015 ORDER WERE PROPER UNDER ESTABLISHED SOUTH CAROLINA LAW.

Dr. Mathis contends that the Master-in-Equity committed error by concluding that the contractual arrangement between Dr. Mathis and Dr. Petrich to sell the assets of MD Medical in April of 2015 was improper. However, for the reasons explained below, the Master-in-Equity's December 15, 2014 Order setting aside the transfer of funds from MD Medical to Dr. Mathis as fraudulent to the extent of Invacare's debt pursuant to the Statute of Elizabeth, S.C. Code Ann. 15-39-410 (1976), was proper.

Pursuant to the Statute of Elizabeth, a voluntary transfer "will be set aside as a fraudulent conveyance if the grantor was indebted to the plaintiff at the time of the transfer and the grantor failed to retain sufficient property to pay his debt to the plaintiff, not merely at the time of the transfer but at the time the plaintiff seeks to collect." Future Group II v. Nationsbank, 324 S.C. 89, 96, 478 S.E.2d 45, 48-49 (1996) (internal citation omitted). "If in the final event the property of the debtor is not sufficient to pay his debts existing at the time of his voluntary conveyance, then such conveyance is null and void as to such debts." Penning v. Reid, et al., 167 S.C. 263, 283, 284, 166 S.E. 139, 146 (1932) (internal citations omitted).

The Court made numerous findings based on the testimony of Dr. Mathis and Mr. Day and the underlying record in this matter. Invacare indisputably received a judgment for \$11,645.61 against Mr. Day and MD Medical on January 21, 2015. Mr. Day and Dr. Mathis were aware of the judgment and Invacare's judgment debtor claim in mid-March of 2015. Dr.

Mathis further specifically testified that he was aware of the judgment to Invacare at that time under examination. Although Dr. Mathis paid himself \$100,000 out of MD Medical's funds as the controlling shareholder of MD Medical, he testified that an insufficient amount was available to satisfy Invacare's judgment. Dr. Mathis further concedes this in his Initial Brief before this Court. After hearing Dr. Mathis' testimony, the Court specifically found that Dr. Mathis was aware of MD Medical's judgment debt to Invacare well before all of MD Medical's assets, valued at \$300,000 per the contract and valued well in excess of Invacare's judgment, were transferred to Dr. Petrich. (R. pp. 20-21.)

However, the Court limited its holding to set aside a mere portion of the complete sale of the business. Specifically, per the testimony of Dr. Mathis, Dr. Mathis deposited \$100,000 paid by Dr. Petrich in exchange for MD Medical's assets into MD Medical's bank account. Those funds were later withdrawn into Dr. Mathis' personal bank account instead of applied, as assets of MD Medical, to its outstanding debts.

Dr. Mathis makes numerous assertions that the funds he undisputedly withdrew from MD Medical's bank accounts following the transfer of MD Medical's assets were made pursuant to Dr. Mathis' status as a creditor of MD Medical. However, both Mr. Day and Dr. Mathis failed to provide any evidence of a debt or other obligation MD Medical owed to him, which were subject to production pursuant to the lower court's Rule to Show Cause issued to each party. (See R. pp. 9-12.) There was no evidence before the Court of any loan or other obligation by which MD Medical was in debt to Dr. Mathis.

Dr. Mathis further contends that Invacare failed to provide clear and convincing evidence that the contract between Dr. Mathis and Dr. Petrich for the sale of MD Medical's assets was fraudulent, and thus, setting aside the transfer of assets was improper under the Statute of

Elizabeth. However, the lower court's order clearly invalidates only the transfer of \$100,000 from MD Medical's possession to Dr. Mathis, which undisputedly occurred. Further, Dr. Mathis' contention that Invacare must prove that the entire transaction was fraudulent is also contrary to established law. Our Supreme Court has explained that:

Under [the Statute of Elizabeth], a transfer made without valuable consideration will be set aside as a fraudulent conveyance if the grantor was indebted to the plaintiff at the time of the transfer and the grantor failed to retain sufficient property to pay his debt to plaintiff, not merely at the time of transfer, but at the time plaintiff seeks to collect If there is valuable consideration, the transfer will be set aside only where the grantor was indebted at the time of the transfer and had an actual intent to defraud creditors imputable to the grantee.

Future Group II, 324 S.C. at 96, 478 S.C. at 96-96 (internal citations omitted).

There is no requirement that intent to defraud be proven to set aside a transfer or a portion of a transfer without valuable consideration. There is no dispute that MD Medical was indebted to Invacare pursuant to its January 21, 2015 judgment at the time MD Medical's assets were sold to Dr. Petrich nor is there dispute that that MD Medical was so indebted at the time Dr. Mathis withdrew the \$100,000 deposit from MD Medical's bank account. Further, Dr. Mathis' own testimony firmly establishes that MD Medical lacked sufficient assets to satisfy Invacare's judgment. The lower court held that, given these findings and a complete lack of evidence that MD Medical received consideration for such a transfer, Invacare need not prove fraudulent intent to have the transfer of funds from MD Medical to Dr. Mathis set aside. Rice v. City of Columbia, 143 S.C. 516, 543, 141 S.E. 705 (3) (1928) (Watts, C.J. Dissenting) ("It is well to bear in mind, however, that under such circumstances, the invalidity of the conveyance arises purely from the presumed intent with which it was executed, although such intent is determined by the attending circumstances, rather than from the actual intention of the parties.")

Finally, Dr. Mathis claims that the monies deposited into MD Medical's bank account and withdrawn by Dr. Mathis were not property of MD Medical. There is no dispute in the record that Dr. Petrich was receiving MD Medical's assets as part of his contract with Dr. Mathis. There is no testimony that the assets sold by Dr. Mathis were his personally as opposed to those of the judgment debtor, and in his testimony, Dr. Mathis agreed that the assets sold to Dr. Petrich were those of the business. In essence, Dr. Mathis entered into the transaction as a shareholder of MD Medical, as there is no evidence that the conveyed assets were owned by him individually. Additionally, Dr. Mathis failed to raise ownership of the assets, which he admitted in previous testimony were property of MD Medical, as an issue to be decided by the lower court, and thus, the argument has not been properly preserved for review by this Court on appeal.

There is no dispute, however, that the monies received in consideration of the sale of MD Medical's assets were at least partially deposited in MD Medical's bank account from which MD Medical paid its debts in the normal course of business and that the funds were subject to its control and disbursement. Dr. Mathis testified that such deposit was made and the documents produced to the lower court demonstrate that such funds were available to MD Medical in its account on April 2, 2015, two months after Invacare's judgment was obtained. By virtue of its judgment against MD Medical, at a minimum Invacare was then due its judgment from those funds and any other assets of MD Medical available for levy. Pursuant to its powers under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-410, the lower court ordered that the funds received in exchange for MD Medical's assets be applied toward the satisfaction of Invacare's judgment:

The judge may order any property of the judgment debtor, not exempt from execution, in the hands of either himself or any other person or due to the judgment debtor, to be applied toward the satisfaction of the judgment....

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-410 (1976).

As such, the lower court exercised its proper statutory authority to order that funds exchanged for MD Medical's assets be applied to Invacare's judgment. Dr. Mathis, through testimony elicited before the lower court, admitted that the funds deposited into MD Medical's account in exchange for MD Medical's assets were withdrawn into his personal possession, and as a third-party, the lower court had specific authority to order the application of those funds in his possession to the satisfaction of Invacare's judgment by entering a personal judgment against him. Dr. Mathis raises no issue of law holding that the entering of a personal judgment is an improper way to secure payment of funds due a judgment debtor in the hands of a third-party, i.e., Dr. Mathis. The same analysis applies to Dr. Petrich, who agreed to exchange funds for MD Medical's assets, such funds being deposited into MD Medical's possession and therefore subject to an order compelling satisfaction of Invacare's judgment against MD Medical. See Deer Island Lumber Co. v. Virginia Carolina Chemical Co., 111 S.C. 299, 299, 97 S.E. 833, 834 (1919) ("[] a judgment creditor may by the plain words of the statute arrest a fund in the hands of a third party, and alleged by such creditor to belong in truth to the judgment debtor, and proven prima facie to so belong....").

2. IN ISSUING THE RULE TO SHOW CAUSE AND ENTERING ITS ORDER OF DECEMBER 15, 2015 THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY ACTED PURSUANT TO ITS POWERS AND PROVIDED SUFFICIENT NOTICE OF SAME IN COMPELLING THE PAYMENT OF FUNDS EXCHANGED FOR THE ASSETS OF MD MEDICAL BY DR. JOHN PETRICH.

Dr. Mathis claims that Invacare's judgment of \$11,645.61 was improperly issued against him for lack of notice. However, for the reasons explained below, the Master-in-Equity was acting well within its powers, both statutory and inherent, in issuing such judgement.

While citing numerous cases in support of his position, Dr. Mathis extrapolates his argument from inapplicable factual and legal scenarios. Each case concerns the specific filing of motions and subsequent orders issued by the lower court resolving those motions on grounds other than those specified in the motion or the original served pleadings. See Griffin v. Capital Cash, 310 S.C. 288, 294, 423 S.E.2d 143, 147 (Ct. App. 1992) (reversing a decision of the Master-in-Equity denying a motion to vacate a judgment pursuant to Rule 60(b)(4) using a standard under Rule 60(b)(1), SCRCPP); Bass v. Bass, 272 S.C. 177, 178-80, 249 S.E.2d 905, 906 (1978) (reversing an monetary award for compensation when no such claim was asserted in the underlying Complaint); Turbeville v. Floyd, 288 S.C. 171, 174, 341 S.E.2d 651, 652-53 (Ct. App. 1986) (reversing a grant of summary judgment on a ground not argued before the circuit court); Skinner v. Skinner, 257 S.C. 544, 549-50, 186 S.E.2d 523, 526 (1972) (reversing the grant of a motion to amend awarded support provisions on the basis of reconsideration of previous factual findings, such reconsideration not being requested).

In this case, the Order of Reference for Rule to Show Cause served on Dr. Mathis provided that he was to specifically show cause "why any property, assets, accounts, funds, or holdings belonging to [MD Medical] . . . should not be turned over . . . and the proceeds applied toward the satisfaction of [Invacare's] judgment," and he was specifically notified that the lower

court had the explicit power to “rule upon all motions necessary to dispose of this matter,” including “to sell all or certain property of [MD Medical]” and to “enter a Final Order.” (R. pp. 9-10) Dr. Mathis was also specifically notified that Invacare was granted leave to obtain discovery from him as to MD Medical’s assets, funds, holdings, and financial documents. (Id.) There was no provision limiting the Master-in-Equity’s power to hear and dispose of this case with the same power as the circuit court, which would include the power to enter judgment.

The final case cited in support of Dr. Mathis’ position is instructive. In Salvo v. Hewitt, Coleman & Assocs., Inc., our Supreme Court held that the grant of summary judgment on the basis of contractual liability, even though such grounds were not clearly set forth in the motion, was not insufficient to apprise the opposing party of such relief as the existence of the contract was specifically alleged in such Complaint. 274 S.C. 34, 39, 260 S.E.2d 708, 711 (1979). Even though the Complaint sounded in tort, the fact that the existence of the contract was alleged provided sufficient notice of liability on those grounds regardless of the grounds actually set forth in the summary judgment motion. Id.

In this case, Dr. Mathis was well aware that he would be testifying as to the assets of MD Medical, their location, the debts of the business, the financial condition of the business, and therefore would testify as to the sale of MD Medical’s assets subsequent to MD Medical’s judgment. He was also aware, per the Rule to Show Cause, that the Master-in-Equity would have power to compel the application of any assets of MD Medical to the satisfaction of Invacare’s judgment and that the Master-in-Equity had full power to issue a final order in the case. That is precisely what the December 15, 2015 Order purported to do by compelling the funds from the sale of MD Medical’s assets to be paid to Invacare via a judgment against Dr. Mathis, as he had long previously withdrawn the asset funds deposited into MD Medical’s

account, and compelling the payment of funds under the contract by Dr. Petrich to Invacare directly, as such funds have replaced the assets of MD Medical pursuant to the asset sale agreement.¹

Dr. Mathis further asserts that a third-party, Dr. John Petrich, was not provided sufficient notice prior to the lower court's order compelling monthly payment funds directly to Invacare. However, Dr. Mathis fails to cite any legal standard or requirement dictating that a transferee of assets must be given notice before a court may order the property of a judgment debtor to be applied directly to a judgment, as was done in this case pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 5-39-410.¹ As a practical matter, to imply such notice would require notifying an infinite number of unknown persons or entities of a supplemental proceeding, as the status of any assets are unknown prior to testimony and could be in the control of any individual or entity. Indeed, the purpose of supplementary proceedings is to specifically discover assets that may satisfy a judgment and provide a method for reaching those assets. Lynn v. Int'l Bhd. of Firemen and Oilers, 228 S.C. 357, 362, 90 S.E.2d 204, 206 (1955) ("Proceedings supplementary to execution, in addition to providing for examination of the judgment debtor for the purpose of discovering property out of which the judgment against him may be satisfied, furnish a means of reaching, in aid of the judgment, property beyond the reach of an ordinary execution . . .").

Finally, notice is only required when the personal rights of an individual are to be affected by consideration of the court. Webster v. Clanton, 259 S.C. 387, 391, 192 S.E.2d 214,

¹ At the November 29 hearing, counsel for Dr. Mathis objected to and argued against Invacare's position when counsel for Invacare moved for an order requiring Dr. Mathis to place any funds received pursuant to the MD Medical asset sale aside for the payment of Invacare's judgment. (R. pp. 143-46.) Counsel did not object to or argue the right to enter evidence regarding the invalidation of the transfer of \$100,000 from MD Medical to Dr. Mathis nor did counsel object to or argue the right to enter evidence as to the direction of payments by Dr. Petrich directly to Invacare. (*Id.*) Those issues were raised for the first time in Dr. Mathis' Motion to Reconsider Pursuant to Rule 52(b), SCRCP, and as such, are not properly preserved for review before this Court.

216 (1972). Dr. Petrich has not had a judgment entered against him, his rights have not been altered under the asset sale contract in any way, and he was allowed to retain possession of MD Medical's physical assets for the same price as expressed in the agreement. His rights and obligations have not changed under the contract as a result of the lower court's order nor have his personal rights been affected; instead, he was compelled, pursuant to the lower court's statutory authority, to direct future payments to Invacare until such time as its judgment was satisfied in lieu of paying Dr. Mathis.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated in the above paragraphs, this Court should affirm the December 15, 2015 Order of the lower court, as it was entered pursuant to the lower court's inherent and statutory authority pursuant to the Rule to Show Cause filed on August 25, 2015, as the Rule to Show Cause provided Dr. Mathis sufficient notice of the scope of the proceedings and the lower court's power, as Dr. Mathis has failed to preserve any argument as to the invalidation of the transfer of \$100,000 from MD Medical's account to his possession, as he has failed to preserve any argument as to the lower court's order compelling the payment of any funds to Invacare by Dr. Petrich, and as the factual findings and legal conclusions issued by the lower court were substantiated by the testimony presented to and legal authority of the court.

October 31, 2016